

APPROVED: 29 May 2019 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2019.e170713

Paving the way to better population health through personalised nutrition

John C Mathers

Human Nutrition Research Centre, Institute of Cellular Medicine and Newcastle University Institute for Ageing, Newcastle University, Newcastle on Tyne, NE2 4HH, UK

Abstract

As each individual person differs from the next in multiple ways, it is a bequiling idea that our individual nutritional needs also differ. In support of this idea, findings from nutritional intervention studies provide ample evidence of considerable interindividual variation in response to the same dietary exposure. We have a limited understanding of the mechanisms responsible for this variation but, following sequencing of the human genome, the role of genes in explaining interindividual differences has been centre stage. In addition, evidence of diet-gene interactions that influence phenotype, including health, emphasises the importance of both nature and nurture. Eating patterns are major determinants of health, so public health advice to reduce the risk of common complex diseases focuses on diet. However, most dietary interventions are relatively ineffective and personalised approaches that tailor the intervention to the individual may be more acceptable and more effective. That idea was tested in the Food4Me study in which adults from seven European countries were randomised to one of four treatment groups in an internet-delivered dietary intervention. Compared with the Control (standardised healthy eating advice), those people randomised to a personalised nutrition intervention had bigger, sustained changes, in eating behaviour after 6 months. However, including more complex phenotypic and/or genotypic information in developing the personalised nutrition advice had no added benefit. Research in personalised nutrition is broadening its scope to consider effects mediated by the gut microbiome as well as multiple aspects of genotype and phenotype. Such research has the potential to explain interindividual differences in the response to specific dietary factors and may provide a scientific basis for more refined approaches to personalised nutrition. However, if this research is to make a significant contribution to improving public health, it will need to address the psychological, social, economic and cultural factors that influence eating patterns to ensure that advice is converted into action and that improved dietary habits are sustained in perpetuity.

© 2019 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: Personalised nutrition, Food4Me study, genetics, interindividual variation

Correspondence: john.mathers@ncl.ac.uk



Acknowledgements: The author wishes to thank the many collaborators who contributed to the Food4Me study that was supported by the European Commission under the Food, Agriculture, Fisheries and Biotechnology Theme of the 7th Framework Programme for Research and Technological Development, Grant Number 265494.

Suggested citation: Mathers JC, 2019. Paving the way to better population health through personalised nutrition. EFSA Journal 2019;17(S1):e170713, 9 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.e170713

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2019 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





Table of contents

Abstr	act	1
1.	Public health context for personalised nutrition	4
2.	Is genetic information special?	4
3.	State-of-the-art for personalised nutrition: evidence from human intervention studies	5
4.	Future challenges for research in personalised nutrition	5
4.1.	Understanding interindividual variation using single-subject or n-of-1 studies	6
4.2.	Using 'big data' in personalised nutrition	6
4.3.	Genetic basis of behaviour change	7
4.4.	Features of personalised nutrition interventions that motivate improved dietary choices	7
4.5.	Impact of personalised nutrition interventions on health inequalities	7
5.	Conclusions	8
Refer	keferences	
Abbre	obreviations	



1. Public health context for personalised nutrition

Non-communicable diseases (NCD) including cardiovascular disease (CVD), type 2 diabetes, musculoskeletal diseases, dementia and depression are major causes of morbidity and reduced lifespan not only in economically developed countries but also globally. In each case, lifestyle choices including diet, physical activity, sedentary behaviours and smoking are major risk factors (GBD, 2015 Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016) that drive changes in disease incidence. The world-wide increase in prevalence of obesity since 1980 (Ng et al., 2014) is a very obvious manifestation of recent pervasive changes in lifestyle and, in particular, of the consequences of higher consumption of energy-rich foods unmatched by increased physical activity. Unsurprisingly, these trends have focused the attention of health authorities on improving lifestyle choices as a means to address this global, and rising, burden of morbidity. For example, the World Health Organization has targeted diet and physical activity in its global action plan for the prevention and control of NCD (WHO, 2013). However, sustained efforts over the past two decades to improve eating behaviours in economically developed countries have produced very modest changes and it is clear that providing information (education) on healthy choices is insufficient to ensure behaviour change (Kelly and Barker, 2016). At the same time, the public is becoming more aware that dietary choices can have profound effects on individual health in the medium to longer term as well as having short-term effects on body weight and well-being. This is driving demand for products that can help individuals make better food-based choices and, in turn, multiple providers have emerged who offer personalised nutrition (PN)-related products. In some cases, these PN offerings have a specific focus on health and well-being, but others are geared to enable consumers to exercise personal preferences, e.g. to avoid certain foods/food ingredients.

From a research perspective, it is well established that there is substantial interindividual variability in responses to the same dietary exposure. For example, in a recent well designed weight loss trial, some individuals lost up to 40 kg body weight over 12 months, whereas other individuals gained up to 10 kg in the same trial (Gardner et al., 2018). There are also wide interindividual differences in biological responses to taking a dietary supplement. For example, the concentration of triacylglycerols (TAG) in blood (a marker of CVD risk) fell markedly in some people after taking fish oils, whereas in others TAG concentration remained unchanged or even increased (Madden et al., 2011). This provides a biological rationale for the concept that, with better understanding of the basis for this interindividual variation, it may be possible to design dietary advice/food products that are tailored for the individual. However, until relatively recently, there was little attempt to investigate the biological nature of interindividual variation in response to diets, foods and nutrients, but that has changed rapidly since the sequencing of the human genome and the development of post-genomic technologies.

2. Is genetic information special?

Success in sequencing of the human genome has stimulated rapid technological development that has reduced the cost of undertaking large-scale investigations of the relationships between genotype, nutrition and multiple health-related outcomes. This provided a major stimulus for the concept of personalised nutrition, especially the idea that dietary advice could be tailored to match individual genotype and that this approach might lead to improved health. To explore whether genetics is 'special' in influencing diet-related behaviours, I discuss below outcomes from three different types of study design.

In the earliest study, Bloss et al. (2011) reported the outcomes from a study in which > 1,900 employees of health and technology companies purchased a genome-wide risk assessment test at a discounted rate. Compared with baseline, the receipt of individualised genetics-based disease risk estimates had no effect on measures of anxiety or on key health behaviours (dietary fat intake or physical activity) approximately 6 months later (Bloss et al., 2011). In addition, although study participants perceived that risk of some diseases, e.g. type 2 diabetes could be modulated by lifestyle, this perception did not lead to changed behaviour (Boeldt et al., 2015). In contrast, being informed that they carried a risk variant of the *ACE* gene that can increase sensitivity to the adverse effects of high salt intake, resulted in a reduced sodium intake 12 months later by young adults recruited to a randomised controlled trial carried out in Canada. However, there were no effects on the intakes of caffeine, vitamin C or sugars when participants were informed that they carried risk variants in the *CYP1A2*, *GSTM1* and *GSTT1*, and *TAS1R2* genes, respectively (Nielsen and El-Sohemy, 2014). More recently, Turnwald et al. (2019) tested the hypothesis that providing individualised genetic risk information (regardless of whether it was actually true) would alter actual risk by making people more likely to exhibit the expected changes in gene-related physiology, behaviour and subjective experience.



For both a physical activity-related gene (*CREB1*) and for an obesity/satiety-related gene (*FTO*), Turnwald and colleagues observed that learning one's genetic risk changed physiology independent of actual genetic risk. Whether such changes persisted in the medium to longer term remains to be discovered (Turnwald et al., 2019).

3. State-of-the-art for personalised nutrition: evidence from human intervention studies

In theory, using personalised approaches to improve dietary behaviour may be more effective in improving eating patterns and longer term health outcomes than conventional 'one-size-fits-all' approaches, for at least two reasons. Firstly, because such approaches are more relevant, i.e. there is a biological rationale for tailoring dietary intake at the individual level and, secondly, because such approaches feel more relevant to each individual and, therefore, improve motivation and compliance with the dietary advice. To date, relatively few human intervention studies have tested the PN concept and each has used quite different approaches.

The Pioneer 100 Wellness Project monitored a large number of cardiovascular, diabetes, inflammation and nutrition biomarkers over 9 months in 107 adults. Using this information, the researchers identified 'actionable possibilities' for each participant designed to enhance his/her health and made recommendations about lifestyle changes when the individual's biomarkers fell outside the clinical reference range (Price et al., 2017). Wide excursions in blood glucose concentration after a meal (glycaemia) may be undesirable and, so, Zeevi et al. (2015) used this as their outcome of interest. They observed substantial interindividual differences in glycaemia in response to standard meals and using data on individual characteristics, including blood-based measurements, anthropometry and the gut microbiome, they developed an algorithm called the Personalised Nutrition Predictor. In a subsequent small intervention study (n = 26), Zeevi et al. (2015) showed that the 'predictor' could select 'good' and 'bad' diets for individuals that resulted good control of blood glucose or wide excursions in glycaemia, respectively, after consumption of the test diets. Very recently, Mendes-Soares and colleague (2019) tested this model in a study of 327 individuals without diabetes from a study lasting 6 days. They observed that using features of each individual, including clinical characteristics, physiological variables, and the microbiome, in addition to nutrient content, was more predictive of postprandial glycaemia that approaches that use information on the energy and/or carbohydrate content of foods alone (Mendes-Soares et al., 2019). This is unsurprising as it is well established that glycaemic responses are determined not only by the foods consumed but also by attributes of the consumer of those foods (Vega-López et al., 2007).

The EU FP7-funded Food4Me study is the largest randomised controlled trial (RCT) to date that has tested the PN concept. This study was designed to determine: (1) whether a PN approach was more effective in improving eating behaviour that the conventional 'one-size-fits-all' approach; (2) what types of information used for developing the PN advice were more effective; and (3) whether an internet-based approach could be used to deliver a scalable PN intervention (Celis-Morales et al., 2015). More than 1,600 adults from seven European countries were recruited to the Food4Me study and randomised to a Control 'one-size-fits-all' intervention (Level 0) based on current European healthy eating advice or to one of three PN interventions. The latter used a hierarchical design to examine the effects of PN advice based upon an analysis of current diet (Level 1), based on current diet plus phenotype (Level 2) or based on current diet, phenotype and genotype (Level 3). The primary outcome was healthfulness of the overall diet after 6 months intervention (Celis-Morales et al., 2015). Those participants randomised to PN reported bigger improvements in diet (measured using the Healthy Eating Index; Guenther et al., 2013) than those randomised to the Control (Level 0) but there were no differences between the effects of Levels 1–3 of PN (Celis-Morales et al., 2017). In conclusion, the Food4Me study showed that personalising a dietary intervention resulted in greater improvements in diet in the medium term (6 months) but there was no evidence of added advantage in using more sophisticated (and expensive) phenotypic and genotypic information in generating that personalisation. In addition, the internet-based approach proved to be feasible and acceptable and so provides evidence that PN can be delivered at scale with potential to improve public health.

4. Future challenges for research in personalised nutrition

Although the principle that PN approaches may be an effective way of enabling individuals to choose healthier diets has been established, as yet, there is limited evidence about which individual

characteristics are most useful in engaging members of the public and motivating and enabling them to adopt healthier eating patterns. Indeed, research on PN is still in its early stages and there are many gaps in both fundamental underpinning science and in translational research some of which are outlined below.

4.1. Understanding interindividual variation using single-subject or n-of-1 studies

Conventional study designs, such as RCTs, provide strong evidence of the effect of a treatment averaged across the participants in the study. However, as noted above, such treatment effects represent the mean of sometimes widely differing individual effects. As a consequence, such designs do not allow us to predict the benefit (or detriment) of a particular treatment, e.g. change in dietary intake, for any specific individual (Madden et al., 2011; Gardner et al., 2018). To address this issue, current research is exploring the utility of single-subject (also known as n-of-1) studies that are designed specifically to provide evidence of how an individual responds to a particular intervention (Schork and Goetz, 2017). Several different designs for n-of-1 studies have been proposed for nutritional investigations (Schork and Goetz, 2017) and de Roos and Brennan (2017) have suggested that the combination of individual genotyping with phenotyping of individual responses to a series of controlled dietary interventions could be used as the evidence base for personalised nutrition. In addition, the CONSORT extension for N-of-1 trials (CENT) group have published guidelines on how to report n-of-1 trials including a checklist and a recommended diagram for depicting an individual n-of-1 trial (Vohra et al., 2015).

As yet, there have been no formal n-of-1 trials reported from nutritional investigations. However, the approaches adopted by Zeevi et al. (2015) and by Mendes-Soares et al. (2019), to obtain individual-level evidence of predictors of glycaemic responses to standard meals, is an important step in that direction. It seems likely that such n-of-1 studies will lend themselves to investigation of interindividual variation in short-term (minutes to days) physiological or psychological responses to dietary changes and challenges. In addition, there may be opportunities to use 'continuous' monitoring of environmental, physiological, behavioural and psychological variables by body worn devices (so-called 'wearables') linked to smart phones or other internet-enabled devices to collect detailed, objective data in real time in response to dietary factors. This will generate large volumes of complex data, which are discussed below in the section on 'big data'. However, given the difficulties in longer term compliance with a given intervention and in addressing confounding factors, it seems unlikely that n-of-1 studies will be suitable for investigation of health outcomes.

4.2. Using 'big data' in personalised nutrition

'Big data' describes the massive increase in volume, types and complexity of data that are being generated, usually in digital forms, in everyday life. Such data are being captured and mined by governments, business, research organisations and others for multiple uses including surveillance, decision-making and commercial purposes. Doug Laney (distinguished analyst at Gartner) has summarised the characteristics of big data as the 3 'Vs', i.e. Volume (vast amounts of data available to process), Velocity (large volumes of data being generated continuously and arriving for analysis) and Variety (data becoming available in multiple forms, sometimes in unstructured forms that are a challenge for conventional analytical approaches). From a scientific perspective, there is an important fourth 'V'. This is Veracity, i.e. the reliability of the data being generated. Here the problems may include uncertainties due to data inconsistencies and incompleteness, ambiguities, deception and assumptions/ approximations inherent in the models being used for its analysis (http://saphanatutorial. com/what-is-big-data/).

The use of 'omics approaches and the large-scale collection of personal physiological and other data via wearables and other devices is now revolutionising the collection of individual-level 'big data' that can be used to underpin personalised nutrition. Already, we have several examples of 'big data' being generated and intended for use in delivering personalised feedback and advice to individuals. These include the Pioneer 100 Wellness Project (Price et al., 2017) discussed earlier. In the future, it seems highly likely that this approach will expand to combine: (1) laboratory-based measurements using 'omics approaches on biological samples (buccal cells, blood, hair, urine, stool, exhaled air, etc.) collected by individuals at home using simple, safe and inexpensive technologies; (2) frequently sampled environmental, physiological, behavioural and psychological data collected automatically by



internet-enabled wearables or other devices in each individual's possession or vicinity; (3) (food) purchasing data and, more controversially; and (4) health record data. The research challenges in this area are both conceptual (what is the overall model which allows us to integrate this diverse assembly of dynamic data?) and practical (how should such data be structured and interrogated so that robust 'actionable' information is extracted?). There are also potential ethical and governance issues that require careful assessment and research.

4.3. Genetic basis of behaviour change

There has been widespread interest in the use of genetic information to achieve behaviour change. Much of this has focused on the idea that knowledge of genetic risk of a (future) disease may motivate individuals to change appropriate behaviours, including eating patterns (McBride et al., 2010). However, accumulating evidence shows that such interventions based on provision of information on single-gene variants with low-risk probabilities, has little impact on behaviour (McBride et al., 2010). Indeed, a systematic review and meta-analysis found that communicating DNA-based risk estimates had no effect on diet or on other major lifestyle factors including smoking cessation and physical activity (Hollands et al., 2016).

Of course, this does not mean that genetics is irrelevant to personalised nutrition. It is possible that future research will find more effective ways of communicating and/or using genetic information and as individuals and populations become more familiar with DNA-based information, its utility may increase. In addition, as behaviours themselves are the result of complex interactions between genetics and the environment, research on such interactions are likely to offer new opportunities for intervention. There is limited research in this area in humans, but analysis of the genetic architecture of behaviours is being conducted in model organisms, e.g. *Drosophila melanogaster* (Anholt and Mackay, 2015), which may have read across to humans.

4.4. Features of personalised nutrition interventions that motivate improved dietary choices

To date, there has been very little systematic research on what characteristics of the individual are most useful when designing and delivering PN. As noted above, genotype has been a major focus of such research, but this is unlikely to be a particularly useful lever in effecting behaviour change. Focusing research effort on understanding individual aspirations and the barriers and facilitators to altered food choices is more likely to yield new insights that can be translated into PN interventions. If such insights are to be used in scalable, internet-based interventions, then it will be critical to: (1) find ways to capture the relevant individual characteristics systematically; and (2) develop and validate algorithms to use that information in an evidence-based manner to deliver actionable advice and support. In addition, future research on PN will need to address the psychological, social, economic and cultural factors that influence eating patterns to ensure that advice is converted into action and that improved dietary habits are sustained in perpetuity.

4.5. Impact of personalised nutrition interventions on health inequalities

Within any given country, both dietary behaviour and health are patterned socioeconomically so that poorer diets and higher burdens of disease and disability occur among those who are more socioeconomically disadvantaged (Chetty et al., 2016). It has been argued that personalised nutrition approaches may exacerbate such health inequalities if PN interventions are more accessible to, or more readily adopted by, those with greater socioeconomic advantage. Analysis of the characteristics of the 5,662 people from seven European countries who expressed an interest in participating in the internet-based Food4Me study showed that these individuals were broadly representative of the European adult population in terms of demographic, anthropometrical and health-related characteristics (Livingstone et al., 2016). Most of these individuals reported adequate nutrient intakes, but could benefit from improved dietary choices and greater physical activity (Livingstone et al., 2016). These finding suggested that future use of internet-based PN approaches may be attractive to a wide target audience. The ability to access PN advice via the internet may be particularly important for more vulnerable sections of the community who may find it difficult to comply with conventional face-to-face interventions. In addition, such internet-based approaches may be more scalable, more cost effective and capable of being tailored to meet the specific needs, in respect of language or other



cultural preferences, of different sections of the community. However, further formal research on the impact of PN approaches on health inequalities is required.

5. Conclusions

The science underpinning personalised nutrition is growing and the limited evidence available from well-designed intervention studies suggests that PN approaches engage members of the public and can improve dietary choices. Given the appetite for products and services that help individuals to choose foods and diets that meet their aspirations, e.g. for improved health and well-being, the potential market for personalised nutrition is huge and, already, many companies offer PN services. However, PN is in the market-place before there is good evidence of what works (in terms of helping people make healthier dietary choices) and, equally important, of what does not work. This aspect of commerce has developed without regulatory oversight, defined standards and consumer protection (Ordovas et al., 2018). For example, it is difficult to assess the rigour of, and evidence base for, most commercial PN offerings because they use proprietary algorithms that are not subject to independent verification. If PN approaches are to be useful in improving public health and in ameliorating dietrelated health disparities, there is a need for more research on the effectiveness of PN-based interventions. In addition, we need better evidence of how to personalise dietary advice so that it enables, and motivates, individuals to make appropriate changes to their eating patterns and to sustain those changes indefinitely. More broadly, PN will need to address the psychological, social, economic and cultural factors that influence eating patterns to ensure that advice is converted into action and that improved dietary habits are sustained in perpetuity.

References

- Anholt RRH and Mackay TFC, 2015. Dissecting the genetic architecture of behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 2, 1–7.
- Bloss CS, Schork NJ and Topol EJ, 2011. Effect of direct-to-consumer genomewide profiling to assess disease risk. New England Journal of Medicine, 364, 524–534.
- Boeldt DL, Schork NJ, Topol EJ and Bloss CS, 2015. Influence of individual differences in disease perception on consumer response to direct-to-consumer genomic testing. Clinical Genetics, 87, 225–232.
- Celis-Morales C, Livingstone KM, Marsaux CFM, Forster H, O'Donovan CB, Woolhead C, Macready AL, Fallaize R, Navas-Carretero S, San-Cristobal R, Kolossa S, Hartwig K, Tsirigoti L, Lambrinou CP, Moschonis G, Godlewska M, Surwiłło A, Grimaldi K, Bouwman J, Daly EJ, Akujobi V, O'Riordan R, Hoonhout J, Claassen A, Hoeller U, Gundersen TE, Kaland SE, Matthews JNS, Manios Y, Traczyk I, Drevon CA, Gibney ER, Brennan L, Walsh MC, Lovegrove JA, Alfredo Martinez J, Saris WHM, Daniel H, Gibney M and Mathers JC, 2015. Design and baseline characteristics of the Food4Me study: a web-based randomised controlled trial of personalised nutrition in seven European countries. Genes & Nutrition, 10, 450.
- Celis-Morales C, Livingstone KM, Marsaux CFM, Macready AL, Fallaize R, O'Donovan CB, Woolhead C, Forster H, Walsh MC, Navas-Carretero S, San-Cristobal R, Tsirigoti L, Lambrinou CP, Mavrogianni C, Moschonis G, Kolossa S, Hallmann J, Godlewska M, Surwiłło A, Traczyk I, Drevon CA, Bouwman J, van Ommen B, Grimaldi K, Parnell LD, Matthews JNS, Manios Y, Daniel H, Martinez A, Lovegrove JA, Gibney ER, Brennan L, Saris WHM, Gibney M and Mathers JC, on behalf of the Food4Me study, 2017. Effect of personalized nutrition on health-related behaviour change: evidence from the Food4Me European randomized controlled trial. International Journal of Epidemiology, 46, 578–588.
- Chetty R, Stepner M, Abraham S, Lin S, Scuderi B, Turner N, Bergeron A and Cutler D, 2016. The association between income and life expectancy in the United States, 2001–2014. Journal of the American Medical Association, 315, 1750–1766.
- de Roos B and Brennan L, 2017. Personalised interventions a precision approach for the next generation of dietary intervention studies. Nutrients, 9, 847.
- Gardner CD, Trepanowski JF, Del Gobbo LC, Hauser ME, Rigdon J, Ioannidis JPA, Desai M and King AC, 2018. Effect of low-fat vs low-carbohydrate diet on 12-month weight loss in overweight adults and the association with genotype pattern or insulin secretion: the DIETFITS randomized clinical trial. Journal of the American Medical Association, 319, 667–679.
- GBD, 2015 Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet, 388, 1659–1724.
- Guenther PM, Casavale KO, Reedy J, Kirkpatrick SI, Hiza HAB, Kuczynski KJ, Kahle LL and Krebs-Smith SM, 2013. Update of the Healthy Eating Index: HEI-2010. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 113, 569–580.
- Hollands GJ, French DP, Griffin SJ, Prevost AT, Sutton S, King S and Marteau TM, 2016. The impact of communicating genetic risks of disease on risk-reducing health behaviour: systematic review with meta-analysis. BMJ, 352, i1102.



Kelly P and Barker M, 2016. Why is changing health-related behaviour so difficult? Public Health, 136, 109–116.

- Livingstone KM, Celis-Morales C, Navas-Carretero S, San-Cristobal R, O'Donovan C, Forster H, Woolhead C, Marsaux C, Macready A, Fallaize R, Kolossa S, Tsirigoti L, Lambrinou C, Moschonis G, Godlewska M, Surwiłło A, Drevon C, Manios Y, Traczyk I, Gibney E, Brennan L, Walsh M, Lovegrove J, Martinez J, Saris W, Daniel H, Gibney M and Mathers J, 2016. Profile of European adults interested in internet-based personalised nutrition: the Food4Me study. European Journal of Nutrition, 55, 759–769.
- Madden J, Williams CM, Calder PC, Lietz G, Miles EA, Cordell H, Mathers JC and Minihane AM, 2011. The impact of common gene variants on the response of biomarkers of cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk to increased fish oil fatty acids intakes. Annual Review of Nutrition, 31, 203–234.
- McBride CM, Koehly LM, Sanderson SC and Kaphingst KA, 2010. The behavioral response to personalized genetic information: Will genetic risk profiles motivate individuals and families to choose more healthful behaviors? Annual Review of Public Health, 31, 89–103.
- Mendes-Soares H, Raveh-Sadka T, Azulay S, Edens K, Ben-Shlomo Y, Cohen Y, Ofek T, Bachrach D, Stevens J, Colibaseanu D, Segal L, Kashyap P and Nelson H, 2019. Assessment of a personalized approach to predicting postprandial glycemic responses to food among individuals without diabetes. JAMA Network Open, 2, e188102.
- Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, Mullany EC, Biryukov S, Abbafati C, Abera SF, Abraham JP, Abu-Rmeileh NME, Achoki T, Al Buhairan FS, Alemu ZA, Alfonso R, Ali MK, Ali R, Guzman NA, Ammar W, Anwari P, Banerjee A, Barguera S, Basu S, Bennett DA, Bhutta Z, Blore J, Cabral N, Nonato IC, Chang J-C, Chowdhury R, Courville KJ, Criqui MH, Cundiff DK, Dabhadkar KC, Dandona L, Davis A, Davama A, Dharmaratne SD, Ding EL, Durrani AM, Esteghamati A, Farzadfar F, Fay DFJ, Feigin VL, Flaxman A, Forounzanfar MH, Goto A, Green MA, Gupta R, Hafezi-Neiad N, Hankey GJ, Harewood HC, Havmoeller R, Hay S, Hernandez L, Husseini A, Idrisov BT, Ikeda N, Islami F, Jahangir E, Jassal SK, Jee SH, Jeffreys M, Jonas JB, Kabagambe EK, Khalifa SEAH, Kengne AP, Khader YS, Khang Y-H, Kim D, Kimokoti RW, Kinge JM, Kokubo Y, Kosen S, Kwan G, Lai T, Leinsalu M, Li Y, Liang X, Liu S, Logroscino G, Lotufo PA, Lu Y, Ma J, Mainoo NK, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Mokdad AH, Moschandreas J, Naghavi M, Naheed A, Nand D, Narayan KMV, Nelson EL, Neuhouser ML, Nisar MI, Ohkubo T, Oti SO, Pedroza A, Prabhakaran D, Roy N, Sampson U, Seo H, Sepanlou SG, Shibuya K, Shiri R, Shiue I, Singh GM, Singh JA, Skirbekk V, Stapelberg NJC, Sturua L, Sykes BL, Tobias M, Tran BX, Trasande L, Toyoshima H, van de Vijver S, Vansankari TJ, Veerman JL, Velasquez-Melendez G, Vlassov VV, Vollset SE, Vos T, Wang C, Wang XR, Weiderpass E, Werdecker A, Wright JL, Yang YC, Yatsuya H, Yoon J, Yoon S-J, Zhao Y, Zhou M, Zhu S, Lopez AD, Murray CJL and Gakidou E, 2014. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet, 384, 766–781.
- Nielsen DE and El-Sohemy A, 2014. Disclosure of genetic information and change in dietary intake: A randomized controlled trial. PLoS ONE, 9, e112665.
- Ordovas JM, Ferguson LR, Shyong Tai E and Mathers JC, 2018. Personalised nutrition and health. BMJ, 361, k2173.
- Price ND, Magis AT, Earls JC, Glusman G, Levy R, Lausted C, McDonald DT, Kusebauch U, Moss CL, Zhou Y, Qin S, Moritz RL, Brogaard K, Omenn GS, Lovejoy JC and Hood L, 2017. A wellness study of 108 individuals using personal, dense, dynamic data clouds. Nature Biotechnology, 35, 747–756.
- Schork NJ and Goetz LH, 2017. Single-subject studies in translational nutrition research. Annual Review of Nutrition, 37, 395–422.
- Turnwald BP, Goyer JP, Boles DZ, Silder A, Delp SL and Crum AJ, 2019. Learning one's genetic risk changes physiology independent of actual genetic risk. Nature Human Behaviour, 3, 48–56.
- Vega-López S, Ausman LM, Griffith JL and Lichtenstein AH, 2007. Interindividual variability and intra-individual reproducibility of Glycemic Index Values for commercial white bread. Diabetes Care, 30, 1412–1417.
- Vohra S, Shamseer L, Sampson M, Bukutu C, Schmid CH, Tate R, Nikles J, Zucker DR, Kravitz R, Guyatt G, Altman DG, Moher D and CENT Group, 2015. CONSORT extension for reporting N-of-1 trials (CENT) 2015 Statement. BMJ, 350, h1738.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2013. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013–2020. Available online: https://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd-action-plan/en/
- Zeevi D, Korem T, Zmora N, Israeli D, Rothschild D, Weinberger A, Ben-Yacov O, Lador D, Avnit-Sagi T, Lotan-Pompan M, Suez J, Mahdi JA, Matot E, Malka G, Kosower N, Rein M, Zilberman-Schapira G, Dohnalova L, Pevsner-Fischer M, Bikovsky R, Halpern Z, Elinav E and Segal E, 2015. Personalized nutrition by prediction of glycemic responses. Cell, 163, 1079–1094.

Abbreviations

- CENT CONSORT extension for N-of-1 trials
- CVD cardiovascular disease
- NCD non-communicable diseases
- PN personalised nutrition
- TAG triacylglycerol